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State of Missouri

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY,
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)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No.  07-0552 PO




)

RICK E. ENNS,

)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


Rick E. Enns is subject to discipline because he committed the criminal offenses of 
(1) Coercion and Enticement and (2) Sexual Exploitation of Minors in that he molested his daughter from approximately the age of five until 16, searched for and downloaded child pornography related primarily to little boys, little girls, and father/daughter incest, and made his daughter watch this material before molesting her.  
Procedure


On April 19, 2007, the Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Enns’ peace officer license.  Enns was served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing by personal service.
  Enns did not respond.  We held a hearing on the complaint on August 19, 2008.  Assistant Attorney General 
Christopher R. Fehr represented the Director.  Neither Enns nor anyone representing him appeared.  The matter was ready for our decision on September 4, 2008, when the transcript was filed.  
Findings of Fact
1. Enns is licensed as a peace officer.  His license was current and active at all relevant times.
  
2. In 1994, Enns began molesting his minor daughter, Child Victim #1 (C.V.), when she was 5 to 6 years old.  Enns’ molestation of C.V. persisted for years.  In 2001, when his daughter was approximately 12 to 13 years old, Enns began using the Internet to conduct “sessions” with C.V. at the home computers.  During these sessions, Enns forced his daughter to sit next to him at the computer while he accessed child pornography, adult pornography, and incest stories.  Enns had his daughter view still images of child pornography, watch movies of child pornography, view adult pornography, and read stories of incestual behavior.  These incest stories included fathers involved in sexually explicit activities with their minor daughters.
3. Enns’ purpose of having his daughter view the sexual images and read the incest stories off the Internet was to persuade, induce, entice, and coerce his daughter to engage in sexual activity for which Enns could be charged with a criminal offense.  During these sessions, Enns would molest his daughter and eventually intensified his molestation to full sexual intercourse.  The sexual activity is conduct in which Enns could be charged with a criminal offense in the state of Missouri, that is, the following felonies proscribed by the statutes of the State of Missouri:  statutory rape in the first degree (§ 566.032); statutory rape in the second degree (§ 566.034); child molestation in the first degree (§ 566.067); child molestation in the 
second degree (§ 566.068); incest (§ 568.020); statutory sodomy in the first degree (§ 566.062); and statutory sodomy in the second degree (§ 566.064).  During the course of the sexual intercourse and the computer sessions, Enns instructed his daughter to keep their activity secret and said that he would commit suicide if she spoke about their activity with others.  During the course of the sexual intercourse and the computer sessions, Enns physically restrained his daughter on more than one occasion.
4. Enns’ sexual intercourse with his daughter continued for years, until May 2004, when C.V. sought help at a church camp.  Upon her return from that church camp, Enns changed his passwords on his computers and reinstalled Windows on his home office computer in an effort to destroy the evidence of child pornography and incest stories on his home computers.  Before doing so, he burned his child pornography collection (which included still images, movies, and incest stories) to CDs, which he continued to access on his Richmond Police Department desktop and laptop after the government investigation began.  When contacted by the Richmond Police Department Chief about returning the work laptop to the station, he viewed the child pornography on the computer one last time and then attempted to destroy the evidence of the child pornography on the laptop.
5. Between March 15, 1999, to May 15, 2004, Enns enticed a child to engage in prohibited sexual conduct.  On September 28, 2004, Enns received child pornography.
6. On March 30, 2005, in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri, the Grand Jury entered a five-count indictment against Enns.  The relevant charges are:
COUNT ONE
On or about March 15, 1999, to and including May 15, 2004, in the Western District of Missouri and elsewhere, RICK E. ENSS, defendant herein, did knowingly use a facility and means of interstate commerce, consisting of a computer and the Internet, to persuade, induce, entice and coerce an individual who had not 
attained the age of 18 years, to engage in sexual activity for which the defendant could be charged with a criminal offense, that is, the following felonies proscribed by the statutes of the State of Missouri:  statutory rape in the first degree (Mo. St. 566.032); statutory rape in the second degree (Mo. St. 566.034); child molestation in the first degree (Mo. St. 566.067); child molestation in the second degree (Mo. St. 566.068); incest (Mo. St. 568.020); statutory sodomy in the first degree (Mo. St. 566.062); and statutory sodomy in the second degree (Mo. St. 566.064); all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2422(b).

*   *   *

COUNT THREE

On or about September 28, 2004, in the Western District of Missouri and elsewhere, RICK E. ENSS, defendant herein, did knowingly receive and attempted to receive visual depictions in interstate commerce by means of a computer and the Internet, the production of such visual depictions involved the use of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, and said visual depictions were of such conduct; all in violation of title 18, United States Code, Section 2252(a)(2).[
]

7. On January 30, 2006, Enns pled guilty to the two counts and was sentenced to imprisonment for a term of 240 months.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear this complaint.
  The Director has the burden of proving that Enns has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.


The Director argues that there is cause for discipline under § 590.080.1, which states:


The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *


(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed;

(3) Has committed any act while on active duty of under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]

I.  Criminal Offenses
A.  State Case

In his complaint, the Director alleges that Enns pled guilty to child molestation in the first degree in violation of § 566.067.  This appears to be a state rather than federal case.  The Director offered evidence only concerning the federal case.
  There is no proof that Enns committed the criminal offense of first degree child molestation.
B.  Federal Case


The Director argues that Enns committed the crime of Coercion and Enticement in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2422, which states:

(b) Whoever, using the mail or any facility or means of interstate or foreign commerce, or within the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States knowingly persuades, induces, entices, or coerces any individual who has not attained the age of 18 years, to engage in prostitution or any sexual activity for which any person can be charged with a criminal offense or attempts to do so, shall be fined under this title and imprisoned not less than 10 years or for life[;]
and the crime of Sexual Exploitation of Minors in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2252:

(a) Any person who --
*   *   *

(2) Knowingly receives, or distributes, any visual depiction that has been mailed, or has been shipped or transported in interstate or foreign commerce, or which contains materials which have been mailed or so shipped or transported, by any means including by computer, or knowingly reproduces any visual depiction for distribution in interstate or foreign commerce or through the mails, if –
(A) the producing of such visual depiction involves the use of a minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct; and
(B) such visual depiction is of such conduct[.]


As evidence, the Director offered certified federal court records showing that Enns pled guilty and was convicted of these offenses.
  In this case, Enns has never denied that he committed the offenses, and conviction collaterally estops him from doing so.
  Enns committed the criminal offenses of (1) Coercion and Enticement and (2) Sexual Exploitation of Minors.  There is cause for discipline under § 590.080.1(2).
II.  Act While on Active Duty or Under Color of Law that Involves 

Moral Turpitude or a Reckless Disregard for the Safety of Others


The Director cites § 590.080.1(3), which allows discipline when a peace officer has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person.  Enns’ use of his Richmond Police Department desktop and laptop to view child pornography was while on active duty or under color of law.  There is cause for discipline under § 590.080.1(3). 
Summary


We find cause to discipline Enns’ peace officer license under § 590.080.1(2) and (3).


SO ORDERED on October 14, 2008.


________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL


Commissioner

�The Director presented testimony that Enns was served rather than a certificate of service, and the date of service was not provided.


�The affidavit attached to the Director’s complaint states that Enns’ license is current and active.  We find that by failing to file an answer to the complaint, Enns admits that his license was active at the times relevant to this complaint.  Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(7).  


�Ex. 3.


	�Section 621.045.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to RSMo Supp. 2007.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


�Ex. 3.  Page 1 of the exhibit references the state case, but we have no evidence about it.


	�The Director cites his Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090, which defines “committed any criminal offense” to include anyone who has pled guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of any criminal offense.  We cannot apply the regulation because the Director had no authority to promulgate it.


�Carr v. Holt, 134 S.W. 3d 647, 650 (Mo. App., E.D. 2004).





PAGE  
2

